



$\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet$

HOW TO TURN GOOD INTENTIONS INTO EFFECTIVE PROJECTS

Handbook for the implementation of the VENRO guidelines for development projects and programmes



CONTENTS

Introduction
Guideline 1: Human rights and social justice5
Guideline 2: Gender equality, sexual orientation and gender identity9
Guideline 3: Empowerment and inclusive participation13
Guideline 4: Environmental sustainability17
Guideline 5: Transparency, accountability and integrity21
Guideline 6: Equitable co-operation25
Guideline 7: Exchanges of knowledge and learning29
Guideline 8: Positive sustainable change
Further reading
Bibliography
Contributors
VENRO members
Imprint

$\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet$

INTRODUCTION

How can good intentions be turned into effective projects? This is the question that the <u>VENRO</u> guidelines for development projects and programmes, adopted at the 2018 general assembly, seek to answer. These eight guidelines outline the shared quality standards of the VENRO member organisations, which have committed themselves to aligning their projects and programmes in the Global South accordingly.

These guidelines are based on the Istanbul Principles, which were adopted in 2010 by civil society organisations active in the field of international development. VENRO believes that these eight principles serve as key points of reference for successful civil society development projects. Consequently, the core components of these principles – namely the focus on human rights, gender equality, inclusive participation, empowerment, environmental sustainability, transparency, partnership, solidarity as well as knowledge management and lasting impact – are also reflected in the VENRO guidelines.

The Istanbul Principles are aimed, in equal measure, at non-governmental organisations (NGOs) from the Global South and the Global North. The VENRO guidelines were developed by VENRO member organisations and thus refer to German NGOs, but partner organisations from the Global South may also find them useful. The purpose of this handbook is to support NGOs in their efforts to align their work with the VEN-RO guidelines. It addresses issues such as project design and partner dialogue as well as the culture and attitude within each organisation. The handbook thus provides an impetus for reflection at various levels and complements existing project management instruments rather than replacing them. The references and suggestions always refer to both the German organisation and its Southern partner, unless explicitly stated otherwise.

This handbook is structured around the eight guidelines mentioned above. Each chapter provides answers to the following three questions: (1) What does the guideline mean and why is it relevant for project work? (2) How can the guideline be implemented in practice? (3) How can we tell if we are on the right track? Questions aimed at self-assessment provide an opportunity for NGOs to take a critical and constructive look at their own work. These questions are not meant to be a static checklist, but rather to offer examples of the kinds of questions organisations should ask themselves when implementing the guidelines. Notes on practical examples and further guidance can be found in the annexes.

The guidelines and the handbook primarily refer to development projects and programmes in the Global South. Various quality alliances exist in the field of humanitarian aid, which also deal with guidelines and quality standards for humanitarian aid programmes. Since 2014, many civil society organisations have committed themselves to comply with the Core Humanitarian Standard (CHS). Just like the Istanbul Principles, the Core Humanitarian Standard aims above all to increase aid effectiveness. In some chapters of this handbook, we highlight CHS commitments that point the way forward for development co-operation. In addition to this publication, we also support NGOs in implementing the guidelines through supplementary documentation, a broad range of training courses and an exchange of best practice. Take a look at what we have to offer at ↘ www. venro.org/servicebereich/uebersicht/.

GUIDELINE 1 HUMAN RIGHTS AND SOCIAL JUSTICE

NGO development projects are effective if they develop strategies, activities and practices that promote individual and collective human rights as well as social justice and take human rights principles into account in their implementation.

The VENRO member organisations systematically strive to align their projects and programmes with human rights principles. The aim of this human rights-based approach is to remove obstacles to the realisation of human rights, to create equal life opportunities for all people and to promote the fair distribution of resources.

Development co-operation can have a lasting effect if it not only combats the effects of poverty but also eliminates its structural causes such as injustice, discrimination and exclusion. In order to initiate the necessary development processes and promote social justice, it is essential that NGOs respect, protect and guarantee human rights in the course of their work.

Human rights include the right to liberty, equality and participation, which at their core are universal, inalienable and indivisible:

- **1.** "Universal" means that human rights apply equally to everyone, anytime and anywhere.
- "Inalienable" means that human rights apply equally to all, and that they cannot be ceded, restricted or withdrawn by others.
- **3.** "Indivisible" means that each human right is of equal value, so that social rights cannot be given priority over civil rights, for example.

All human rights are governed by overriding human rights principles. These principles are of particular relevance for human rights-based projects and programmes because they describe both the way in which human rights should be implemented and the goals that their implementation is meant to achieve.¹ These human rights principles include the principles of participation and empowerment, namely that it must be possible for everyone to assert their rights and to play a part in shaping all areas of public life. Similarly, the principles of non-discrimination and equal opportunities also apply to human rights, meaning that everyone, regardless of origin, age, gender, social status, mental or physical health, ethnic or religious affiliation, sexual orientation or gender identity, has the right to gain access to their rights. The principles of transparency and accountability mean, on the one hand, that states must transparently explain what they are doing to protect human rights and, on the other, that people are entitled to compensation and redress if their rights are violated.²

This human rights approach is based on the conviction that rights are equally enjoyed by all people while states have a duty to uphold them. In other words, human rights are binding for states, but also for civil society and economic actors. Given their work as service providers, employers or lobbyists, both types of non-state actors influence the living situation of local groups and thus also have obligations towards them.

The benchmark for human rights-based projects and programmes are the civil, economic, social and cultural rights of all people, as enshrined in the UN Human Rights Charter and the associated declarations and conventions. The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child as well as human rights conventions at regional level are also part of the international human rights system.

How can this guideline be implemented?

The human rights approach is more than a simple instrument or a method of project- and programme work. In fact, it has a direct impact on the

¹ See Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte (DIMR) 2014

² See Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte (DIMR) 2014

strategies, priorities and attitudes of NGOs and their staff: The people who take part in their projects should not be treated as recipients of charity, but as equal partners.

Human rights-based work focuses both on empowerment measures and on measures that help governments to fulfil their duty to uphold human rights.

The following aspects are crucial for human rightsbased projects and programmes:

- NGOs should ensure the participation of all individuals who have a direct or indirect interest in a project at all stages of the project work. This group of people includes, in particular, the project participants and the population groups whose living situation the project aims to improve indirectly. A prerequisite for their consistent and inclusive participation is transparent communication and accountability. (See guideline 5 "Transparency, accountability and integrity").
- 2. Prior to the start of the project, NGOs should conduct a comprehensive, participatory analysis of the human rights situation in the partner country and in the immediate project environment. In the event of human rights violations, it needs to be clarified 1) which human rights are being violated and in what way, 2) which groups of people are affected, and 3) who is responsible for these human rights violations. Such an analysis of the human rights situation should provide information about the people whose rights are affected in the respective setting and to what extent they are able to assert their rights themselves, or in what way they are prevented from doing so. Based on the results of this analysis, NGOs can devise appropriate measures for effective empowerment. Secondly, it also makes sense to identify the people who have a duty to uphold human rights in the

respective setting and, in the case of human rights violations, to analyse why they failed to comply with this duty.

- **3.** According to the empowerment principle, NGOs should, in particular, empower those groups of people whose human rights are disproportionately affected or violated and enable them to assert their rights autonomously. (See guideline 3 "Empowerment and inclusive participation"). This includes people living with disabilities, girls and women, lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex (LGBTI) people, illiterate people, people in precarious employment, religious and ethnic minorities and refugees, but also individuals, including human rights activists, who are suffering from political persecution or whose lives are threatened.
- 4. In addition, NGOs should use advocacy and lobbying to make government institutions accountable for upholding human rights. In order to take action against specific human rights violations, it may also be beneficial to work in co-operation with human rights lawyers.
- **5.** Besides advocacy work, another important aspect is capacity building among actors whose duty it is to uphold human rights. This means informing actors such as government or municipal representatives about measures that they can take to uphold human rights.
- 6. In addition, it may also be useful to promote public social services, for example in the fields of health and education. Social security systems strengthen the social, economic and political participation of all population groups and improve their access to different resources.

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programme work is aligned with the "Human rights and social justice" guideline:

- → To what extent are our projects and programmes based on participatory analyses of the human rights situation on the ground? Have we done enough to identify any impairments to/violations of human rights and their specific causes in the project environment, as well as the government institutions responsible for human rights compliance?
- → To what extent do our project and programme objectives take the specific causes of human rights restrictions and violations into account?
- → How have we integrated the Do-No-Harmapproach into our project and programme planning? To what extent have we analysed any unintended negative effects of our project activities on the local population?
- → To what extent have we analysed the political situation on the ground and explored the scope for civil society involvement in order to minimise the risks for our partners and target groups? To what extent have we con-

ducted a risk analysis and integrated risk management into our project work?

- → To what extent are we collaborating with actors whose duty it is to uphold human rights/with people whose human rights are affected?
- → To what extent are we involving our target groups in all phases of the project work?
- → To what extent do our programmes and projects take the diversity of the target groups into account? Have we identified which of the groups affected by our project are particularly disadvantaged?
- → To what extent does our project encourage target groups to stand up for their rights and interests, and to what extent do we strengthen their ability to assert their rights themselves?
- → To what extent does our project contribute to a fairer distribution of resources and an improvement in the life chances of our target groups? To what extent are we strengthening the social security systems?
- → What steps can we take to better integrate human rights and social justice aspects into our projects and programmes?

GUIDELINE 2 GENDER EQUALITY, SEXUAL ORIENTATION AND GENDER IDENTITY

NGO development projects are effective if they practice and promote gender equity, take into account the concerns and experiences of women, girls and people who suffer discrimination on the basis of their sexual orientation or gender identity (LGBTI people)³ and support them in asserting their individual and collective rights by enabling them to take part in development processes as self-confident actors.

³ Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people

When planning, implementing and evaluating projects and programmes, VENRO and its member organisations consider the different life situations of women, men, girls and boys as well as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people. Where necessary, they take measures to promote gender equality.

Equal rights for people of different genders, sexual orientations and gender identities is a human right. In recent decades, much progress has been made on gender equality, particularly under pressure from women's and LGBTI groups and organisations. Nevertheless, women, girls and LGBTI people are still disproportionately affected by (sexual) violence and human rights violations, poverty and exclusion. These forms of discrimination are based on patriarchal power relations that are expressed in laws, social norms and patterns of behaviour as well as in gender-specific role assignments and an unequal distribution of resources and (care) work.

Apart from the United Nations Human Rights Charter, the main benchmarks for gender-equitable projects and programmes are the UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (1979), the Declaration and Platform for Action of the Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing (1995), UN Security Council Resolution 1325 (2000) and the 17 Sustainable Development Goals of the UN's Agenda 2030, in particular Sustainability Development Goal 5, to "Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls".

How can this guideline be implemented?

NGOs can address the concerns of women, girls and LGBTI people through gender mainstreaming, empowerment processes, inclusive participation and effective advocacy work. The following elements are essential for gender-sensitive projects and programmes:

- 1. At the beginning of each project, NGOs should carry out an analysis of gender relations in the respective work setting. Such an analysis helps to better understand the needs of different genders, to formulate common goals together with the target groups and partners and to prevent adverse, gender-related side-effects. This analysis should provide insights into social role models and the division of labour in the respective region, as well as information on access to resources, forms of gender-specific violence, and participation in decision-making both inside and outside of family structures. To enable women and men to participate equally, an analysis of daily routines may also be relevant during project planning and implementation. In addition, any characteristics of target groups that influence gender relations should also be analysed. These include, for instance, the socio-economic background, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity and age of the participants. For a holistic understanding of target groups' needs, it is of utmost importance to consider the extent to which the above-mentioned characteristics are mutually dependent and how they interact with one another. If an individual is subject to different forms of discrimination, the term intersectionality is used. In a gender-sensitive approach, groups of people suffering from multiple forms of discrimination should be given special consideration in the further planning of projects. To this end, the relevant data should be collected and broken down by gender as well as any other relevant characteristics.
- 2. Gender-sensitive indicators that distinguish between women and men, girls and boys and LGBTI people are useful for collecting such disaggregated data. Gender-disaggregated data should not only be collected prior to the start of a project, but also as part of the monitoring and

evaluation activities during and after the implementation. This ensures that the voices of women, girls and LGBTI people are heard and that their experiences can be incorporated into the design of follow-up programmes.

- **3.** All partners should agree on a common understanding of gender mainstreaming in advance. Such a gender-based human rights approach relies on inclusive participation and transparency in order to change the balance of power between the sexes.
- 4. In order for gender mainstreaming to be successful, gender equality needs to be incorporated into all areas of work while taking into account the gender-specific impact of each project. To do so, NGOs need to review their approaches and methods from a gender equality perspective and to train their staff accordingly.
- 5. During the design and planning as well as in all subsequent stages of the project cycle, NGOs should ensure that all groups who are disadvantaged or excluded on the basis of their gender, sexual orientation or gender identity are able to participate – at times possibly in separate groups, depending on the context.
- 6. In line with the principles of empowerment, the agency and decision-making power of girls, women and LGBTI people must be strengthened at all levels of the projects and programmes. Men and boys can act as crucial allies in this regard, since they are also subject to the pressure of patriarchal role expectations. However, resistance is to be expected if any group loses power as a result of gender equity oriented projects and programmes. NGOs should therefore factor these effects into their project and programme planning.
- Projects and programmes that specifically target and support women, girls and LGBTI people or work directly to change gender rela-

tions are just as important as consistent gender mainstreaming. Such projects can begin at a structural level and advocate for better laws that improve the situation of disadvantaged groups, or they can start at a cultural level by targeting practices that discriminate against women or LGBTI people. This type of project is known as a stand-alone measure. In many cases, self-representative organisations, for example women's organisations, are the partners of choice for such measures due to their longstanding experience in gender equality work.

- 8. In order to achieve gender justice, it is necessary to examine the structural power relations in place and to take measures that are directly aimed at changing them. In their discussions with decision makers, NGOs should, wherever possible, point out existing violations of rights against women, girls and LGBTI people and demand that their rights be enforced. NGOs should work out context-specific solutions together with these groups to improve their legal situation and promote their equal (political) participation. The term context-specific describes solutions that are systematically developed in such a way that they take into account the relevant thematic expertise, the respective local frameworks, and the needs, interests and ideas of local actors.
- **9.** NGOs from the North should set a good example by embracing gender justice as a vision, mission and strategic and operational goal.
- 10. In the context of promoting gender justice, institutional support for self-advocacy organisations and movements should be a goal in its own right, especially given that they generally receive significantly less financial support than other project executing agencies.⁴

⁴ See Medie 2016

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programmes are aligned with the "Gender justice, sexual orientation and gender identity" guideline:

- → To what extent is our project and programme design based on a participatory analysis of gender relations in the respective setting? What characteristics have we considered in our analysis that may reinforce disadvantages?
- → To what extent are gender equality and the empowerment of women, girls and LGB-TI people explicit goals of our projects and programmes? Do these goals also include changing the structural power relations between the sexes?
- → Have we sufficiently considered any possible unintended negative consequences of our projects and programmes for women, girls and LGBTI people in our planning? Are we doing enough to minimise these risks – such as the risk of increased workloads or an increase in domestic violence? How do we react when such risks arise?
- → What strategies do we have in place for taking gender aspects into account? Are we providing enough space for women, girls and LGBTI people as well as men to articulate their views?

- → To what extent are we making sure that the voices of girls, women and LGBTI people are heard when monitoring and evaluating our projects and programmes?
- → How much training on gender-sensitive approaches and methods do our staff need? To what extent are we offering them further training as part of our projects and programmes?
- → What is the extent of the human and financial resources that we make available for gender mainstreaming in our projects and programmes?
- → Is the proportion of women and men among project staff balanced at all levels?
- → Do we have a code of conduct in place in our organisation, in our team or in our collaborations with other organisations to prevent and address abuse of power, sexual exploitation and violence?
- → To what extent do we take gender-sensitive working methods into account when selecting our partner organisations?
- → To what extent do we collaborate with women's or LGBTI rights organisations and groups (where this is useful and feasible)?
- → What steps can we take to better integrate aspects of gender justice into our projects and programmes?

GUIDELINE 3 EMPOWERMENT AND INCLUSIVE PARTICIPATION

NGOs development projects are effective if they support empowerment and inclusive participation, especially of economically disadvantaged and marginalised people, in order to strengthen their democratic self-determination and their agency in political structures and development initiatives that affect their lives.

The work of VENRO's member organisations is based on the conviction that hunger, poverty and injustice can ultimately only be overcome if all people have the opportunity to participate in social processes and are able to organise themselves and to independently assert their rights.

Consequently, NGOs projects and programmes should pave the way for self-determination and participation on the part of the local population and their organisations. To this end, it is necessary to consider the specific context of the project and the balance of power in the regions in which it operates.

By respecting the dignity of every human being and valuing the potential inherent in every individual, NGOs pay heed to the fact that people are responsible for shaping their own lives.

Since the 1970s, development co-operation projects around the world have developed various approaches and methods designed to ensure the social and political participation of local communities. And in the 1990s, the notion of participation experienced a veritable boom. Today, inclusive participation is an essential component of development measures and an indispensable element of projects and programmes. As a result, organisations often claim to promote self-help, self-organisation, participation or empowerment among disadvantaged and underprivileged people. However, as a number of in-depth studies⁵ have shown, there is often a wide gap between these claims and their impact on the ground. According to these studies, many NGOs use targeted and controlled participation in project management primarily as a technical tool for the smooth implementation of their projects and programmes, rather than as a method for strengthening political ownership.

Examining who exercises responsibility and power and thus ultimately decides on development measures is a crucial factor in empowerment processes. The challenge inherent in the principle of empowerment is thus to systematically address the factors that stand in the way of a change in the dynamics of power, and then to focus on those factors that promote participation to varying degrees and strengthen empowerment and democratic ownership. In addition to the specific social context and the respective social and political framework, the interests of the actors involved as well as their power and ability to negotiate and assert their rights are also important factors.

Self-organised action on the part of local populations is another important prerequisite for empowerment processes because it enables the people involved to develop their own critical positions. The first step is always to rely on capacities and resources that people are able to mobilise independently of external support. Raising awareness is crucial for these empowerment processes, and individuals who are able to successfully confront their disadvantages can also act as multipliers who encourage like-minded people.

The strengthening of individual and collective forms of resistance can also play an important role in empowerment processes. Ownership of any successful changes must lie with the people themselves, who need to be involved in development processes in order to shape them directly.

There are three separate levels for promoting empowerment processes. At an individual level, socially disadvantaged or marginalised people should be encouraged to develop personal skills such as self-reflection and the ability to accept criticism while strengthening their self-confidence and awareness of their living conditions and scope for action, as this helps to counteract the effects of internalised exclusion. At the relationship level, people need negotiating skills in order to play a constructive role in shaping collective decisions

⁵ See World Bank 2013

as individuals. The third level, the collective dimension, is about the ability of groups to organise themselves in order to effect positive changes in their living conditions in a collaborative manner.⁶

How can this guideline be implemented?

The "Empowerment and inclusive participation" guideline focuses more closely on the people with whom and for whom development co-operation intends to bring about change. People can contribute to sustainable change if they are able to make their voices heard and act in their own interests. Strengthening their ability to speak for themselves and to exert greater influence on decisions that affect their lives should therefore be part of every project and programme.

For NGOs, the challenge is therefore to support people in recognising and releasing their own potential and that of their communities. In other words, the people themselves are often the solution. Any person can think, plan and act – in fact, that's exactly what people do.

The following characteristics are therefore essential for projects and programmes that promote empowerment and inclusive participation:

- To promote sustainable social self-mobilisation, self-help or empowerment, NGO staff need a range of skills that go beyond technical and professional expertise. Respectful guidance is needed to support people in their efforts to improve their situation. To this end, it is important to recognise the potential, knowledge and skills of the people on the ground.
- 2. NGOs should enable and structure dialogue processes in an empathetic way, by creating spaces for joint analysis and learning and by moderating the decision-making processes, with the aim of unlocking inherent resources

and promoting favourable conditions for communication within the group. Psychological aspects must be considered, such as low self-esteem among disadvantaged and marginalised people or experiences of trauma and violence in conflict regions.

- **3.** Guided by the insight that people know their own situation better than anyone, which is to say that they are experts of their own lives, NGOs should continuously review and possibly re-align their self-perception, their own actions and their supporting role.
- 4. In practice, the relationship between NGOs and the people they work with is often fraught with pressure to succeed, so that mistakes are made. However, such mistakes can act as important learning opportunities and should therefore not be avoided at all costs. Mutual trust can be strengthened by creating an atmosphere marked by respect, learning, feedback and constructive handling of mistakes. Facilitating this type of atmosphere is an important part of the work of NGOs.
- **5.** NGOs must address and tackle the existing power constellations in the settings of their work. Social change can only be sustainable if power imbalances are reduced in an appropriate and targeted manner to the benefit of all those involved, especially of disadvantaged population groups.
- 6. Power relationships are often also reflected in language. Project-specific terminology, for example the use of terms such as "target group" and "beneficiaries" in project applications, can reinforce existing power imbalances and should therefore be re-examined. For instance, the commonly used term "target group" (which also appears in this handbook) and what its use says about one's own attitude, have become the subject of a recent debate in development policy, which we cannot resolve in this handbook.

⁶ See Rowlands 1997, p. 15.

In order to strengthen inclusive participation and self-organisation, NGOs should play a supporting role to help promote favourable conditions for communication within groups and the unblocking of existing resources. As such, NGO staff have a duty to permanently reflect on their own self-perception and actions.

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programmes are oriented towards the "Empowerment and inclusive participation" guideline:

- → What motivates us in our work? Is it the desire to help, to guide, to direct or to learn, to argue together and to accompany people on a part of their life's journey?
- → To what extent do we, as NGO staff, trust the people we work with to be aware of and capable of finding solutions? To what extent do we accept the solutions they propose?
- → What is the self-perception and role of our staff?
- → To what extent do we act as allies, as collaborators in learning processes and as facilitators? To what extent do we provide solutions?
- → To what extent are we open to a critical review of our working methods and attitudes? How willing are we to adapt our working methods and attitudes if necessary?

- → Where do we get our impulses for change? From the outside, based on the attitude "this is how it should and needs to be"? To what extent are these impulses grounded in the multi-layered wealth of experience of the people on the ground, their knowledge and potential? To what extent do they arise from common spaces for reflection, learning and dialogue, and from interaction and networking with others?
- → How aware are we of the visions for a self-determined, just and sustainable (co)existence of the people with whom we work?
- → Against what visions (and whose) do our staff members measure their work?
- → To what extent do we support people in analysing and eliminating the structural causes of discrimination and marginalisation? To what extent do we support them in formulating and implementing their own strategic interests?
- → What steps can we take to integrate empowerment and inclusive participation in our projects and programmes?
- → How can we measure that we are personally doing a good job in implementing the guiding principles of empowerment, democratic ownership and participation?

 $\bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet$

GUIDELINE 4 ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

NGO development projects are effective if they develop and implement approaches that promote environmental sustainability for current and future generations. This includes immediate and sustainable responses to the climate crisis.

The conservation of natural resources and the fight against climate change occupy an important place in the projects and programmes of the VENRO member organisations.

Environment- and climate protection is indispensable for achieving the Agenda 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and preventing humanitarian crises. The SDGs include achieving access to clean water, affordable and renewable energy, an environmentally friendly infrastructure and sustainable production and consumption patterns. Environmental action and social justice are inextricably linked and can only be achieved together, which is why political reforms are needed to promote sustainable lifestyles and economic policies.

At the same time, it is necessary to strengthen the resilience of population groups and communities that are particularly affected by climate change or environmental degradation. This is essential to enable people to cope with the ecological consequences and to prevent lasting damage to their livelihoods. Adapting to climate change needs to be understood as a task of society as a whole, rather than of individual groups, not least since economically disadvantaged and vulnerable groups – including a disproportionate number of women – are particularly affected by the consequences of climate change. Finding answers to the climate crisis is thus of existential importance for the whole of humanity.

International co-operation is needed to tackle global environmental problems and ensure that natural resources are managed within the bounds of the Earth's ecological capacity. SDGs 12 ("Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns") and 13 ("Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts") as well as the 2015 Paris Climate Agreement provide the necessary multilateral frame of reference for this process. The aim of the Paris Agreement is to limit global warming to well below 2 degrees Celsius and ideally to no more than 1.5 degrees Celsius. The other main objectives of the Paris Agreement are to increase climate resilience in order to prevent or limit the negative consequences of climate change for humankind. In addition, industrialised countries also committed themselves to supporting developing countries financially, technologically and through knowledge transfers to achieve these goals.

How can this guideline be implemented?

In order to promote environmental sustainability, NGOs need coherent project and programme strategies that place their actions in direct relation to their impact on the climate and the environment. NGOs should develop impact-based measures for environmental and climate protection at both institutional and programme level.

The following features are essential for environmentally sustainable projects and programmes:

- In order to establish climate and environmental protection as cross-cutting topics in project and programme work, NGOs need to develop a common understanding of environmental sustainability with their partners. To this end, multilateral environmental and climate action targets can provide a guiding framework. Sufficient financial and human resources should be made available for environmental and climate protection, climate adaptation and sustainable management. Additionally, associated responsibilities should be bundled in a targeted manner.
- 2. Before the start of a project, it is useful for NGOs and their local partners to collect and analyse environmental and climate-relevant information for the respective project region This analysis should identify which population groups are affected by the consequences of environmental degradation and why. For this purpose, dialogue within and between communities as well as with stakeholders is useful. The

results of this analysis enable the development of appropriate climate and environmental protection measures and practical strategies for climate change adaptation. A distinction should be drawn between strategies for long-term adaptation, for coping with crises in the short term, and for reducing and preventing climate and environmental damage (preparedness and prevention).

- **3.** Acting in consultation with their partner organisations, NGOs can use the results of such an analysis in their project applications and reports to explain how their project and programme measures affect climate protection, climate adaptation and the environmental situation on the ground. Alternatively, NGOs can initially focus on individual sectors and incorporate, for example, proposals for sustainable energy supply or energy-efficient building use in their project work.
- 4. At the institutional level, NGOs can also draw up an environmental statement, introduce an environmental management system, or agree on climate protection targets with their partner organisations that they will then adopt themselves. The relevant instruments include (1) standards for energy efficiency and green buildings, (2) the purchase of renewable electricity from certified sources, (3) sustainable procurement principles and (4) travel guidelines to promote environmentally friendly mobility. The latter can contribute to a reduction of flights or require for compensation of unavoidable CO₂ emissions. The aim of these instruments is to reduce the ecological footprint of NGOs and their projects and programmes. In addition, NGOs can also adopt the use of environmental labels such as the Rio markers.⁷ These were developed in 1998 by the Development Assistance Committee (DAC) of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)

and serve to identify projects that contribute to the implementation of international environmental agreements.

- 5. In addition to establishing environmental action as a horizontal objective, NGOs can also develop projects and programmes that are explicitly designed to implement national and international environmental and climate agreements. This may include projects and programmes for the protection of biological diversity, the sustainable use of ecosystems and genetic resources, combating desertification or mitigating the effects of drought. They can also include measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, improve the capacity to adapt to climate change and support the protection of forests and oceans. At the same time, these projects and programmes also contribute to achieving the SDGs. To achieve these goals, NGOs can deploy projects that promote environmentally sustainable lifestyles and economic activities, remedy specific types of environmental degradation or facilitate adaptation to climate change.
- 6. In addition, NGOs should advocate for environmentally friendly legislation and effective environmental management at the political level. This requires promoting a better understanding of climate and environmental risks in the partner countries and raising environmental awareness.
- 7. Marginalised and vulnerable population groups are particularly affected by climate and environmental impacts. NGO projects and programmes should therefore provide for specific measures to prevent or mitigate the adverse effects of environmentally unsustainable development on the world's most economically disadvantaged people.

8. Indigenous peoples and communities that practice ecologically adapted forms of land use deserve special protection and recognition with regard to environmental sustainability. Environmental degradation not only directly endangers their way of life, but their traditional wealth of expertise and knowledge is indispensable for safeguarding the diversity of cultural and socio-economic pathways of environmental sustainability. In addition to the latest environmental findings, NGOs should therefore also take traditional knowledge into account.

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programmes are oriented towards the "Environmental sustainability" guideline:

- → In what ways have we embedded environmental sustainability in our project work? What strategies do we have in place and how consistently and conclusively do we pursue them?
- → To what extent have we collected environmental and climate-relevant contextual information in the run-up to our project and analysed and discussed it together with our partners?
- → To what extent are women, men and LGB-TI people affected by climate change, environmental degradation and resource scarcity? Which population groups in the project region are particularly disadvantaged by climate change and environmental degradation?
- → What specific steps are we taking to identify the environmental and climate risks affecting the local population and to mitigate or prevent them?

- → What do local people need in order to live in a more environmentally sustainable way?
- → To what extent do we hold governments accountable through targeted lobbying?
- → To what extent do we consider the ecological footprint of our project?
- → What is our institutional attitude towards environmental sustainability? In which areas do we consciously act in an environmentally friendly manner? In which areas do we have room for improvement?
- → What best practices does our organisation have in place for promoting environmental sustainability as a cross-sectional goal?
- → What capacities do we provide to ensure that our programmes and projects are environmentally sustainable?
- → How are we addressing environmental sustainability in partner dialogues?
- → What steps can we take to integrate environmental sustainability into our projects and programmes?



GUIDELINE 5 TRANSPARENCY, ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTEGRITY

NGO development projects are effective if they commit themselves to transparency, are accountable to the target groups and other stakeholders, and act with integrity.

VENRO member organisations base their projects and programmes on the principles of transparency, accountability and integrity.

By actively practising transparency, NGOs can ensure that their partners, target groups and the public have continued trust in their work and in the efficiency of civil society organisations more generally. Transparency in their projects and programmes means that NGOs disclose all relevant information about their work and organisational structures to their stakeholders. Stakeholders include donor institutions on the one hand and the respective partners and target groups on the other.

Through accountability, especially between partners in the North and South and towards target groups, NGOs increase the quality and effectiveness of their projects and programmes. Accountability vis-à-vis target groups primarily involves making relevant information on intended and ongoing projects and their impact available to them at an early stage. This enables them to participate actively in the planning and design of programmes. NGOs should ensure that this information is also accessible to disadvantaged or marginalised groups.

In the context of civil society action, integrity means value-based action based on ethical standards. A prerequisite for trust in an organisation is the integrity of its representatives. Integrity is essential for preventing corruption and abuses of power.

At the international level, there are a number of actors working to improve accountability, such as the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation (GPEDC), the Civil Society Organisation Partnership for Development Effectiveness (CPDE) and the United Nations High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development (HLPF). In addition, there is also the Commitment to Accountability to Affected People, adopted in 2011 by the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) of the United Nations.⁸ The obligations enshrined in this commitment have also been incorporated into the Core Humanitarian Standard (CHS), according to which humanitarian aid should be based on communication and information and be planned and implemented in a participatory manner. The beneficiaries need to be able to provide feedback, and NGOs should be open to suggestions and criticism and learn from them in order to further improve their programmes. Furthermore, the CHS obliges NGOs to use resources in a responsible, economical and ethical manner.

How can this guideline be implemented?

NGOs should seek to ensure transparency and accountability towards their target groups and provide a framework for acting with integrity.

The following characteristics are essential for projects and programmes based on the principles of transparency, accountability and integrity:

1. In the context of NGO projects and programmes, all partners involved need to practice transparency both among themselves and towards the public. This can be achieved in a comprehensive manner by publishing an annual report, which should include information on the organisation's structure and objectives and the responsibilities of its staff. NGOs should also report on their activities, in particular on the impact of their projects and programmes, and should disclose their income, sources of funding and expenditures. Funding organisations should also clearly communicate the eligibility criteria and the conditions for the use of funds. However, the principle of transparency will need to be curtailed if the publication of such information would expose the organisation, its partners or the respective target groups to risk.

⁸ See Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) 2019

- 2. The concept of accountability to affected people demands an open attitude on the part of NGOs and their staff. All stakeholders, and the target groups in particular, must be informed in good time and in a suitable manner⁹ about intended project and programme activities. The relevant information should be communicated in the language of the people involved or in visual form. This will give target groups the opportunity to actively contribute their knowledge, their concerns and their own experiences already during the needs assessment and planning phase of activities.
- 3. Only if information is communicated in a transparent manner is it possible for target groups to provide feedback and comments. The latter should be incorporated by means of monitoring into future project planning. This allows NGOs to make the necessary adjustments and to design their projects in a more effective way. For example, an accountability-to-beneficiaries checklist¹⁰ can be used to determine the degree to which an organisation is accountable to its target groups and enables their participation.

- 4. NGOs need to create a framework for acting with integrity in their projects to actively prevent corruption and abuses of power, including sexual violence and exploitation. A code of conduct, training for employees and internal processes or behavioural controls can be appropriate measures to achieve this. Effective prevention of corruption and abuse of power also includes setting up functioning feedback and complaint mechanisms for both project staff and target groups, as this increases the likelihood of detection.
- 5. Donors and implementing organisations are equally responsible for ensuring transparency, accountability and integrity in NGO projects. VENRO and its member organisations have committed themselves to observing transparency and accountability standards, particularly through a code of conduct for ↘ "Transparency, organisational management and monitoring". In addition, the guidelines issued by the "Transparent Civil Society Initiative" provide useful orientation.

⁹ For appropriate approaches that enable the participation of marginalised or disadvantaged groups, see the chapter on Guideline 3: Empowerment, democratic self-determination and participation.

¹⁰ See Mango 2010

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programmes are aligned with the "Transparency, accountability and integrity" guideline:

- → Do we as an organisation present an annual report? Does this report outline our goals and strategies?
- → To what extent do our annual report and our website provide a true and fair picture of our activities?
- → What information do partners have about our organisation? Is this information available in a language that our partners can understand?
- → To what extent are we transparent in communicating our goals and values in the runup to a partnership?
- → Do we as an organisation have sufficient information at our disposal to determine if a new partnership will comply with the principles of transparency, accountability and integrity?
- → To what extent does the staff of our NGO feel that they know the partner in question?
- → To what extent have we informed possible target groups and stakeholders about our organisation, goals and principles?

- → To what extent do we address our target groups in a differentiated and appropriate manner? To what extent do we facilitate their barrier-free access to information, the programme design and our feedback systems?
- → What feedback systems do we have in place and how do we handle feedback? To what extent do we take feedback into account when designing our projects and services? Do we introduce changes to our projects based on feedback?
- → To what extent are we as an organisation open to feedback and complaints and are we communicating this properly?
- → To what extent are we implementing the VENRO code of conduct "Transparency, organisational management and monitoring" in our work?
- → What provisions have we taken to prevent corruption and abuse of power? To what extent do we train our staff in order to raise awareness of the associated risks?
- → To what extent have we agreed with our project partners to take preventive measures against corruption and abuse of power and to create a framework for acting with integrity?
- → What steps can we take to integrate the principles of transparency, accountability and integrity even more effectively into our projects and programmes?

GUIDELINE 6 EQUITABLE CO-OPERATION

NGO development projects are effective if they co-operate with other NGOs and development actors on an equal footing, based on common development goals and values. These include mutual respect, institutional autonomy, long-term partnerships and mutual solidarity.

Within the framework of their projects and programmes, the VENRO member organisations are committed to practising equitable co-operation based on respect and solidarity.

Partnerships in international co-operation are defined as relationships in which all participants have agreed to co-operate with each other in order to advance their common interests and achieve their development goals. Partnerships are a key instrument in development co-operation, in particular when it comes to NGO projects and programmes. There are three main reasons for this: 1) Projects and programmes that are implemented under conditions of local ownership, i.e. under the responsibility of local partner organisations, are more sustainable and effective than those carried out without local partners. Ownership happens when local partners and target groups are able to plan and implement measures at their own responsibility; it does not depend on how organisations structure their co-operation, for instance whether Northern NGOs maintain offices on site or not. 2) Co-operation with local civil society is of central importance for promoting and shaping democracy as well as for human rights and good governance advocacy in the respective partner countries. 3) As independent development actors, civil society organisations from Germany are the natural partners for this type of organisation in the Global South. Civil society actors thus offer a specific added value compared to government organisations.

In its "State of Civil Society Report" on the possible scope of civil society action, first published in 2013, the CIVICUS international civil society alliance states that "...the majority of the world's citizens live in environments that do not give them the opportunity to become involved in activities, organisations and movements that could improve their lives."¹¹ Although recently, there have been major breakthroughs such as the adoption of Agenda 2030, the scope of action for NGOs and thus for organised civil society remains limited. In the coming years, the focus should therefore be on building alliances between civil society organisations from the Global South and North.¹²

There has been renewed debate on how to set up equitable partnerships based on solidarity in development co-operation, not least as a result of discussions in the field of humanitarian aid. At the 2016 World Humanitarian Summit, a large number of initiatives were launched that are primarily aimed at strengthening actors in the Global South (the so-called localisation discourse).¹³

How can this guideline be implemented?

To be effective, partnerships need to be shaped and implemented by people. Partnerships between civil society actors are frequently based on personal relationships and thrive on mutual processes of exchange and dialogue. Consequently, personal attitudes and behavioural patterns have a decisive impact on the quality of each partnership. Equitable partnerships therefore rely on mutual solidarity between people and respectful treatment of each other.

The following characteristics are therefore essential for projects and programmes based on equitable co-operation, solidarity and respect:

 Capacity development approaches are crucial for achieving equitable co-operation. Empowering partner organisations also contributes to strengthening the organisational capacity of civil society.¹⁴ To ensure the success and effectiveness of equitable partnerships, partners

- 12 See VENRO; Krause 2017
- 13 See VENRO; Krähling 2017
- 14 See VENRO 2017a

¹¹ See Mayrhofer 2013

must also act in an inclusive and responsible manner. This requires a targeted framework for continuous learning.¹⁵

- 2. Cultural, religious, socio-economic and political differences between the partners from the Global North and the Global South should be explicitly addressed. In the framework of continuous, mutual capacity building, such partnerships should also strive for a common understanding of values, goals and project measures.
- 3. An essential requirement for equitable partnerships is the institutional independence of all partners. They must be able to exist independently of each other and to pursue their own goals. All too often, small partner organisations from the Global South become financially dependent on partners from the North. In such cases, it is important to consider together how institutional autonomy can be realised. To this end, the partners can jointly develop strategies for fundraising and diversification of their sources of income. In order to increase the success of such activities, Northern partners should also support the public relations work of their Southern counterparts, as this enables financially weaker partners to emerge stronger from the partnership. Strengthening the institutional independence of partner organisations is generally only possible in the case of long-term collaborations involving a limited number of partners. For this reason, partnerships are to be carefully considered and designed for a longer duration.
- 4. Since funding is often mobilised by Northern NGOs, they often have the last word when it comes to project planning and implementation. This asymmetry of power between partner organisations is the result of unjust access to resources. For this reason, it is important to

ensure that project and programme partners negotiate their respective roles together, define them clearly and put them down in writing. They need to discuss and reflect upon their mutual expectations regarding their co-operation on a continuous basis. Already at the beginning of a project, the partner organisations should agree on such joint reflection processes and allocate sufficient time and resources for this purpose. In this regard, it is important to bear in mind that the partner organisation responsible for the use of funds is tasked with ensuring the visibility of the interests of all partners. As such, the partner organisation providing the funding acts as a moderator and plays a supporting role (see guideline 3).

5. The roles and responsibilities of the partners differ as a function of the resources available to them. As a rule, the partner organisation with the greater financial, human and professional resources also bears greater responsibility for addressing inequalities and imbalances in the relationship.¹⁶ The partners should therefore consider how such structural power imbalances can be addressed. In addition to strengthening institutional autonomy, there are also increasing opportunities for NGOs from the Global South to apply for funding from global governments or international organisations. NGOs from the Global North should ask themselves in a self-critical manner what they can do to better support NGOs from the South in this process for example by providing advice on application processes, arranging contacts or setting up the necessary management systems. Thereby NGOs from the North should disclose their legitimate financial needs to their Southern partner organisations - after all, they tend to be just as dependent on project funding and the associated management fees as their co-operation partners from the South.

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programmes are oriented towards the "Equitable co-operation" guideline:

- → In which way do we practice solidarity in the context of our co-operation?
- → To what extent are we addressing how to promote equitable partnerships in our project planning?
- → To what extent do we perceive our partners as independent actors with their own rights and duties?
- → How are we addressing cultural, religious, socio-economic and political differences between us and our partners?
- → To what extent are we reflecting on the asymmetry of power between the partners? What specific activities are we envisaging to over-come inequalities and reduce these power imbalances?
- → What is the envisaged duration of the partnership? Under what circumstances is a long-term partnership useful and desirable?
- → To what extent are we working to improve the institutional strength and financial independence of our partner organisations? What types of support are we providing for this purpose?

- → What are our own vested interests in the project and how are we disclosing them? To what extent are decisions on the division of management fees based on discussions with our project partners?
- → Have we concluded written partnership contracts, and if yes, to what extent were these negotiated jointly? To what extent do these contracts provide for regular and timely reviews, monitoring and adjustment of our plans and mutual obligations?
- → How are we communicating our internal decision-making processes to our partner organisations?
- → To what extent are we prepared to grant partner organisations autonomy in the use of funds?
- → To what extent are we respecting each other's intellectual property rights and copyrights as regards the partnership contributions and benefits? To what extent have we defined these rights in our co-operation agreement?
- → When it comes to administrative instructions and commitments, how are we accounting for our partners' existing processes and structures and their ability to implement these instructions?
- → To what extent are we jointly negotiating entry and exit scenarios?
- → What steps can we take to better incorporate aspects of equitable partnership in our projects and programmes?

GUIDELINE 7 EXCHANGES OF KNOWLEDGE AND LEARNING

NGO development projects are effective if they promote exchanges of knowledge and learning, both from their own experiences and from the experiences of target groups and other actors.

Exchanges of knowledge and learning are crucial for long-term sustainable development and therefore play an important role in the projects and programmes of VENRO member organisations.

Given that a wide range of local and international stakeholders are active in development co-operation, there is a wealth of existing knowledge and experience that can be tapped. While this opens up many opportunities, it also presents NGOs with the challenge of determining how existing knowledge can be applied and disseminated. In this regard, well-funded knowledge management systems can serve as a helpful instrument in organisational and project work.

There are a number of different approaches to knowledge management. One such approach is experiential learning, which is based on the assumption that knowledge always depends on the practical experiences and personal backgrounds of those involved. Experiential learning is the process by which such individual experiences are translated into shareable knowledge. Thanks to their individual experiences, people also have knowledge of how to act in certain situations. Such situational knowledge often remains hidden, be it as a result of how the dialogue between the partners initially evolved or how new staff members are trained. Disclosing such situational knowledge, documenting it and learning from it by sharing it with different actors can lead to important improvements in practice.

A learning organisation is an organisation that is able to collect existing knowledge, to develop and share knowledge and to change behavioural patterns on the basis of new knowledge and insights. Learning organisations promote a culture of learning and constructive handling of mistakes, both at an individual and a collective level. They thereby promote innovation and critical thinking. For NGO projects and programmes, this means that knowledge is not monopolised within one organisation but is shared among partners. In development projects, capacity development is a pivotal instrument for sharing knowledge and mutual learning at a personal, organisational and social level.

How can this guideline be implemented?

Knowledge management depends on the integration of different approaches into project work and on making the empirical knowledge of project staff and organisations explicit and structurally embedded.

The following characteristics are therefore essential for projects and programmes that promote exchanges of knowledge and learning:

- NGOs that consider themselves to be learning organisations need to systematically integrate experiential learning into their projects. At project and programme level, joint reflection and learning from positive and negative experiences should take place at regular intervals. As a matter of priority, the learning objectives and the appropriate framework should be defined in advance.
- 2. In order to learn systematically from the experiences of all people involved in a project, it is important to be aware of how learning takes place in the respective other culture and to consider how formative experiences can be communicated. Colleagues on the ground are often better placed to recognise cultural differences in learning habits and to develop appropriate methods for experiential learning. Culturally adapted formats likewise help to ensure that the documentation and sharing of knowledge is tailored to the target group.
- **3.** In addition, NGOs should facilitate joint learning in such a way that is adapted to the local cultural conditions. If no local capacities for

experiential learning are available, they should be developed in co-operation with other NGOs, stakeholders and local organisations on the ground. For example, NGOs can bring in external facilitators who are not associated with the project to conduct experience exchange workshops for the project teams and target groups. Such external consultants can help to facilitate critical reflection of the measures that have been implemented. Open-ended dialogue formats and peer learning can be used in these reflection workshops, and it is also important to promote South-South exchanges of experience.

- 4. Learning organisations not only create space for individual creativity and innovation, but also provide frameworks for how employees should handle information and knowledge. Clear, transparent filing systems, documentation processes and induction methods for new employees as well as targeted training opportunities play an important role in this regard.
- 5. Knowledge management and experiential learning are only meaningful if they lead to changes in practice. Therefore, each learning process should be followed by concrete action plans and a monitoring system for checking their implementation. Such action plans may include, for example, the establishment of a community of practice whose members exchange information on a specific topic. Such groups or communities can also be organised online.

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programmes are oriented towards the "Exchanges of knowledge and learning" guideline:

- → To what extent is the conscious and systematic use of knowledge and learning embedded in our organisation?
- → Does knowledge management play a role in our project processes and have we put these processes in writing? How are we generating, documenting and sharing our knowledge? To what extent does our approach to knowledge management apply equally to our activities, results and goals?
- → What filing systems does our organisation have in place? Are these systems transparent and understandable? Do we have clear responsibilities in place for the storage and maintenance of databases?
- → To what extent does our HR management system include specifications, guidelines and methods for the professional training of employees? How do we manage internal transfers of knowledge to ensure that no knowledge is lost?
- → What time and opportunities do our staff have at their disposal for knowledge management? Do we consider time spent on knowledge management as working time?
- → To what extent is experiential learning part of our projects and programmes?
- → To what extent have we incorporated experiences from similar projects or from oth-

er organisations in the planning phase and how are we using this knowledge in our own projects and programmes?

- → What kind of strategically important knowledge are we disseminating?
- → What is our budget for knowledge management and experiential learning?
- → What opportunities do we provide for project staff and partners to develop their professional skills?
- → To what extent are we involving local experts in the development and implementation of experiential learning strategies? How can we create suitable experiential learning capacities if no trained personnel is available on the ground?
- → To what extent are we generating, documenting and sharing knowledge in a language that is accessible to the partner organisations' staff and the local population alike?
- → To what extent are our projects and programmes providing a space in which necessary adjustments and practical changes can be implemented through successful learning? What resources are we providing for this purpose?
- → To what extent are we systematically sharing the generated knowledge with external stakeholders? What are we doing to ensure that knowledge will be retained in the region or partner country in the long term?
- → What steps can we take to embed knowledge management and learning even more firmly in our projects and programmes?

GUIDELINE 8 POSITIVE SUSTAINABLE CHANGE

NGO development projects are effective if they work together to realise lasting positive impact, especially for marginalised groups and people living in poverty, while keeping an eye on the conditions required to ensure the durability of these positive effects.

At all levels, VENRO and its member organisations take care to ensure that their projects and programmes generate a lasting positive impact. They keep a close eye on the positive and negative results as well as on the intended and unintended impact of their projects and measures.

In line with the "leave no one behind" principle of Agenda 2030, the work of development NGOs focuses on all people who experience discrimination and exclusion. The aim is to improve their living situation permanently. NGO projects therefore focus on achieving positive changes for the target groups that will endure beyond the end of the project. To this end, it is essential to combat the structural causes of inequality, poverty, violence and marginalisation and to enable people to determine their own lives.

The effects on the target group can be divided into two categories, outcomes (short- and medium-term effects) and impacts (overarching and long-term effects). Development measures may trigger these effects either directly or indirectly.

Within NGO projects, two levels of lasting effects can be distinguished:

- → At the level of the individual: What are the positive and lasting changes brought about by the project in the life of the target groups and their surroundings?
- → At the system level: What positive and lasting changes do our project activities bring about within the social, political and economic system?

In addition to the Istanbul Principles, the OECD's DAC criteria are considered an important political frame of reference for positive and lasting impact.¹⁷

These include relevance, effectiveness, impact, efficiency, coherence and sustainability. The OECD's DAC defines sustainable effects as the continuation of the positive impact of a development measure after the funding phase has ended. Another important reference for VENRO members is the \lor policy paper on impact orientation.

How can this guideline be implemented?

To be impact-oriented, NGO projects and programmes need to consider the intended and unintended effects right from the start of the planning phase, together with the partners and target groups. NGOs should use the findings from impact monitoring to plan and adapt their ongoing project activities and for institutional knowledge management.

The following characteristics are essential for impact-oriented projects and programmes:

- The entire project cycle, from planning through monitoring and evaluation up to the end of the project should be impact-oriented. This means that NGOs should not only describe and measure impacts in the context of monitoring, but that they should also clarify the desired results of the individual measures in each phase of the project.
- 2. With the help of such a results-based approach, the intended impacts of individual project measures can be plausibly embedded within the overarching objectives of development work. Already during the planning phase, the partners should discuss this results-based approach and analyse it together with the target groups and other relevant actors in a participatory manner.
- **3.** In addition to the target groups, other local actors should also be involved in a participatory manner in order to identify needs and to develop the project goals, approaches and measures. Ideally, the people on the ground should plan

¹⁷ see OECD 1991

and implement projects at their own responsibility. If there is a lack of ownership or even participation, NGOs should consider to what extent it is possible for a project to have a lasting impact and to be implemented at the time in question.

- 4. NGO target groups in development projects tend to be very diverse. For this reason, their various interests and needs as well as their individual opportunities for contributing to the project need to be considered during the planning and implementation of projects. Only through participation, NGO projects can bring about sustainable change. Understanding the target groups' readiness, skills and motivations for change are hereby of central importance.
- 5. At the same time, NGOs should integrate impact-oriented approaches into each phase of the project cycle. Using system-oriented instruments such as theories of change¹⁸ or flexible approaches such as adaptive management,¹⁹ NGOs can determine the steps that are necessary to bring about lasting change in complex contexts. This also includes keeping an eye on any possible unintended positive and negative effects.
- 6. Ideally, NGOs should also pursue a multisectoral approach. In order to achieve lasting effects, they should not work in isolation, but form alliances with other actors and embed their projects in the political and social context. NGOs should thus work together to ensure that local government actors support effective development co-operation rather than undermining it. The issue of shrinking spaces the increasing restriction of civil society's scope for action is becoming increasingly important, which is another reason for promoting interdisciplinary, cross-sectoral and participatory co-operation

between actors from different areas. For NGOs, this means questioning established structures and venturing into new multisectoral alliances.

- 7. In lobbying and advocacy work, partners should monitor to what extent their activities have contributed to changes in the legal situation, or whether they have created a new social awareness that may bring about legislative changes.
- 8. It takes time to effect lasting positive changes, which is why development projects should be based on long-term partnerships wherever possible. Yet the project funding cycles foreseen by government donors are ill-suited to achieving sustainable effects. In this respect, NGOs should examine prior to the start of a project to what extent long-term partnerships are possible and financially viable.
- 9. NGOs can only achieve lasting positive results if their work continues to have an impact on the target groups after the conclusion of the project. In terms of capacity development, NGOs should therefore ensure that the partners and project participants pass on their acquired knowledge so that it is retained in the local community in the medium term.
- 10. NGOs are often faced with the question of how a project can be continued after funding ends and what will happen to the infrastructure that has been put in place. If shoring up the sustainable impact of a project will likely result in follow-up costs, NGOs should already think about how to secure additional funding before the project begins. For this reason, it makes sense to develop an exit strategy to ensure the continuation of the project activities, be it by government actors, the local authorities or the target groups themselves. Such an exit strategy may include identifying suitable actors and concluding handover agreements with them at an early stage. Another possibility is to se-

¹⁸ See Valters 2015

¹⁹ See VENRO 2017b

cure financing through profits generated by the project or from private donations, for which fundraising and networking skills are essential. In order to enable local partners to successfully continue the project, NGOs should therefore plan capacity development measures²⁰ to strengthen their fundraising, public relations, lobbying and organisational development expertise.

20 see VENRO 2017a

How can we tell if we are on the right track?

Answering the following key questions may be helpful in order to reflect on the extent to which an organisation's projects and programmes are oriented towards the "Lasting positive impact" guideline:

- → To what extent is the design of our projects and programmes based on participatory analyses that identify factors that promote or inhibit a positive and lasting impact? To what extent are we taking account of local social and political conditions when planning our objectives and measures?
- → Which factors stand in the way of a sustainable impact in the respective project setting?
 Which are the social, economic or cultural conflicts that shape the project context? How are we accounting for these conflicts in our project planning and monitoring?
- → To what extent is there a common understanding among all partners involved as to what constitutes a lasting positive impact? How are we involving all relevant actors in the definition, identification and evaluation of this lasting positive impact? What processes do we have in place for their involvement?

- → How is the sustainable impact embedded in the different phases of the project cycle?
- → How do we consider the actors, approaches or aspects that might have an effect on the project's lasting impact within our strategy?
- → To what extent are we keeping an eye on possible unintended positive and negative effects?
- → To what extent is the intended impact geared towards marginalised groups?
- → How, when and for what purposes are we using the impact measurement outcomes and findings? How are we handling these impacts and insights/what do we learn from them?
- → To what extent are we collaborating with other actors to achieve our goals?
- → What is our exit strategy for the project to ensure the sustainability of the intended impact?
- → What steps can we take to integrate aspects of lasting positive impact into our projects and programmes?

FURTHER READING

GENERAL TOPICS

VENRO-Leitlinien für entwicklungspolitische Projekt- und Programmarbeit
 VENRO, 2019
 △ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u>
 VENRO-Dokumente/Leitlinien_vo7_DIGITAL_2_.pdf

Good-Practice-Bibliothek – Collection of good examples of implementation examples and handouts VENRO, 2019

<u>https://venro.org/servicebereich/good-practice-bibliothek/</u>

Putting the Istanbul Principles into Practice:

 A Companion Toolkit to the Siem Reap Consensus on the International
 Framework for CSO Development Effectiveness
 Bermann-Harms, Christina, and Murad, Nora Lester, 2014

 <u>https://wwfint.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/230111</u> implementation
 toolkit en web.pdf

GUIDELINE 1

Human rights and social justice

VENRO Code of Conduct for Development-Related Public Relations

VENRO, 2011

<u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u>
 <u>VENRO-Dokumente/VENRO_Code_of_Conduct_Development_related</u>
 <u>Public_Relations.pdf</u>



VENRO Code of Conduct for Children's Rights: Protecting children against abuse and exploitation in development co-operation and humanitarian aid VENRO, 2011

↘ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u> VENRO-Dokumente/VENRO_Code_of_Conduct_Child_Rights.pdf

Selbstlern-Onlinekurs "Menschenrechte in der Entwicklungszusammenarbeit" Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte, 2020

≥ https://www.institut-fuer-menschenrechte.de/themen/entwicklungspolitik/

Kindesschutz konkret – Praktische Hinweise zur Einführung einer

Kindesschutz-Policy VENRO, 2019 ↘ http://kindesschutz.venro.org/

Human rights education – e-learning offers for the promotion and protection of human rights

The global human rights education and training centre, 2019 <u>http://www.hrea.org/learn/</u>

Quality Standards for Kindernothilfe's Child Rights Approach

Kindernothilfe, 2011 ≥ <u>https://www.kindernothilfe.org/multimedia/KNH_INT/KNH_Englisch/Qualit</u> y+Standards+for+Kindernothilfe_s++Child+Rights+Approach-p-54558.pdf

Child Rights Programming

Save the Children, 2005 N https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/node/2658/pdf/2658.pdf

Frequently asked questions on a human rights-based approach to development cooperation

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2006 <u>http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FAQen.pdf</u>

Getting it Right for Children: A practitioner's guide to child rights programming Save the Children, 2010

<u>http://resourcecentre.savethechildren.se/library/</u>
 <u>getting-it-right-children-practitioners-guide-child-rights-programming</u>

EU-UNICEF Child Rights Toolkit: Integrating Child Rights in Development Cooperation

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)/European Union (EU) 2014

↘ <u>http://www.childrightstoolkit.com/wp-content/uploads/toolkit/English/</u> <u>Child-Rights-Toolkit-Web-Links.pdf</u>

Gender equality, sexual orientation and gender identity

Capturing Change in Women's Realities – A Critical Overview of Current

Monitoring & Evaluation Frameworks and Approaches

Batliwala, Srilatha and Pittman, Alexandra (Association for Woman's Rights in Development), 2010

↘ <u>https://www.awid.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/capturing_change_in_womens_realities.pdf</u>

"Gender at Work Framework" for analysing gender-specific power dynamics

Gender at Work, 2018 https://genderatwork.org/analytical-framework/

Invest in Women's Organisations for a change

Medie, Peace A., 2016

א <u>https://www.geg.ox.ac.uk/news/invest-womens-organisations-change</u>

Gender & conflict analysis toolkit for peacebuilders

Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security (VGGT)

Brot für die Welt, 2015

↘ <u>https://www.brot-fuer-die-welt.de/fileadmin/mediapool/2_Downloads/</u> <u>Fachinformationen/Sonstiges/OX_VGGTs_Broschuere_web.pdf</u>

$\bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet$

GUIDELINE 3

Empowerment and inclusive participation

NGO-IDEAs Impact-Toolbox: Participatory Monitoring of Outcome and Impact

NGO-IDEAs, VENRO, 2011

↘ <u>http://www.ngo-ideas.net/mediaCache/impact_toolbox/NGO_Ideas</u> <u>Toolbox_v05.pdf</u>

How to guide to conflict sensitivity

Conflict Sensitivity Consortium, 2012

↘ <u>http://local.conflictsensitivity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/6602</u> <u>HowToGuide_CSF_WEB_3.pdf</u>

From Principle to Practice: A User's Guide to Do No Harm

Wallace, Marshall, 2015

<u>http://cdacollaborative.org/publication/</u> <u>from-principle-to-practice-a-users-guide-to-do-no-harm/</u>

Participatory Methods Toolkit: A practitioner's manual

Slocum, Nikki, 2003 <u>http://archive.unu.edu/hq/library/Collection/PDF_files/CRIS/PMT.pdf</u>

Participatory Advocacy: A Toolkit for VSO Staff, Volunteers and Partners

Voluntary Service Overseas, 2009

 <u>http://www.toolsforchange.net/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/VSO-2009-</u> <u>Participatory-Advocacy.pdf?4c19cd</u>

Measuring Empowerment? Ask Them – Quantifying qualitative outcomes from people's own analysis

Sida Studies, 2010

↘ <u>https://www.participatorymethods.org/sites/participatorymethods.org/files/</u> measuring%20empowerment%20ask%20them%20jupp.pdf

$\bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet$

GUIDELINE 4

Environmental sustainability

Towards the Ambitious Implementation of the Paris Agreement: A Toolkit for National Level Advocacy

ACT Alliance, 2018

↘ <u>http://actalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/2018-ACT-Alliance-</u> <u>Climate-Advocacy-Toolset.pdf</u>

Online tool for calculating flight emissions and offsetting CO2 emissions atmosfair, 2018

ム <u>https://www.atmosfair.de/en/</u>

The Vulnerability Sourcebook: Concept and guidelines

for standardised vulnerability assessments

Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Zusammenarbeit und Entwicklung (BMZ) et. al., 2014 → http://www.adaptationcommunity.net/?wpfb dl=203

CRISTAL (Community-based Risk Screening – Adaptation and Livelihoods): User's Manual

International Institute for Sustainable Development, 2012 <u>https://www.iisd.org/system/files/publications/cristal_user_manual_</u>

<u>v5_2012.pdf</u>

Climate Vulnerability and Capacity Analysis Handbook (CVCA)

CARE, 2009 → <u>https://careclimatechange.org/tool-kits/cvca/</u>

Interactive map linking the Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) Climate Watch, 2017

↘ https://www.climatewatchdata.org/ndcs-sdg?goal

Voluntary Guidelines on Biodiversity – Inclusive Impact Assessment

Convention on Biological Diversity, 2006 <u>https://www.cbd.int/doc/publications/imp-bio-eia-and-sea.pdf</u>

Umwelterklärung des Evangelischen Werks für Diakonie und Entwicklung e.V.– Maßnahmen für sozial und ökologisch verantwortliches Handeln Diakonie, 2017

↘ <u>https://www.diakonie.de/fileadmin/user_upload/EWDE_</u> <u>Umwelterklaerung_2016.pdf</u>

Minimum standards for sustainable event management at GIZ

Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), 2016 <u>https://www.giz.de/en/downloads/Minimum%20Standards_Sustainable%20</u> Event%20Management final PUR EN.pdf

Leitbild klimafreundliche Stiftungen

↘ https://www.stiftungen.org/fileadmin/stiftungen_org/Verband/Was_wir_ tun/Veranstaltungen/AK-Umwelt/Leitbild-Klimafreundliche-Stiftung.pdf

Global network for supporting developing countries in advancing their NAP processes to help accelerate climate change adaptation efforts around the world National Adaptation Plan (NAP) Global Network, 2018

↘ <u>http://www.napglobalnetwork.org/about/</u>

Renewables 2017: Global Status Report

Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century, 2017 <u>http://www.ren21.net/gsr-2017/</u>

Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet

Rockström, Johan et al., 2015

↘ <u>http://precaution.org/lib/steffen_planetary_boundaries(incl_supplemental).150213.pdf</u>

Promoting Pro-Poor Adaptation to Climate Change

Southern Voices, 2018

→ <u>http://www.southernvoices.net/en/documents/key-documents/72-</u> promoting-pro-poor-adaptation-to-climate-change/file.html

Global Risk Data Platform

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)/United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR), 2013

 \searrow <u>http://preview.grid.unep.ch/index.php?preview=home&lang=eng</u>

2015 Paris Agreement

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), 2015 \land https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf



 $\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet$

 Pariser Abkommen 2015 – Forderungen an die deutsche Klima-, Energie- und Entwicklungspolitik
 VENRO; Klima-Allianz Deutschland, 2016
 △ https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/ Positionspapiere/Positionspapier_Klima.pdf

 Migration, Vertreibung und Flucht infolge des Klimawandels –
 Forderungen an die Bundesregierung
 VENRO; Klima-Allianz Deutschland, 2017
 ⇒ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u> Positionspapiere/Positionspapier2017_MuF_finalWebV02.pdf

Transparency, accountability and integrity

Common Humanitarian Standard: CHS Guidance Notes and Indicators

CHS Alliance, 2015

↘ <u>https://corehumanitarianstandard.org/files/files/CHS-Guidance-Notes-and-Indicators.pdf</u>

Transparency International publications

Transparency International
<u>https://www.transparency.org/en/publications</u>

VENRO Code of Conduct Transparency, organisational management

and monitoring

VENRO, 2011

▶ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u>
 VENRO-Dokumente/VENRO-Code_of_Conduct_Transparency
 Organisational_Management.pdf

Handreichung zur Umsetzung des VENRO-Verhaltenskodex

VENRO, 2020

→ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u> VENRO-Dokumente/VENRO_Handreichung_Verhaltenskodex_2020.pdf

Equitable co-operation

Guidelines on partnerships with southern CSOs

Dóchas – The Irish Association of Non-Governmental Development Organisations. Williams, Mike, 2013

↘ <u>https://acfid.asn.au/sites/site.acfid/files/resource_document/dochas-partnerships.pdf</u>

Partnerships for the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: Transformative, Inclusive and Accountable?

Beisheim, Marianne and Ellersiek, Anne (Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik, German Institute for International and Security Affairs), 2017 ≥ <u>https://www.swp-berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/research</u>

papers/2017RP14_bsh_elk_01.pdf

Best practices

Tujan, Antonio Jr. (D+C Development and Cooperation), 2015 ≥ <u>https://www.dandc.eu/en/article/</u> rules-international-cooperation-non-governmental-organisations

Civic space

Mayrhofer, Barbara (D+C Development and Cooperation), 2013

△ <u>https://www.dandc.eu/en/article/civicus-assesses-civil-liberties-around-world-and-criticises-donors-supporting-authoritarian</u>

Improvable partnerships

Balk, Sabine (D+C Development and Cooperation), 2018

<u>https://www.dandc.eu/en/article/</u> swp-study-reveals-many-gaps-partnerships-implementation-un-2030-agenda</u>

Handreichung zu erfolgreichem Capacity Development von NRO – Herausforderungen im Kontext von Krisen, Fragilität und Shrinking Spaces VENRO, 2017

→ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u> <u>Diskussionspapiere/CapacityDevelopment_vo6_DIGITAL.pdf</u>

- Unbequeme Partner? Von Konfrontation bis Kooperation: Strategien von Nichtregierungsorganisationen gegenüber Unternehmen VENRO, 2018
 - <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u>
 <u>Dokumentationen/NRO-Report_vo5_DIGITAL_2_.pdf</u>

Exchanges of knowledge and learning

Arbeitskreis Wissensbilanz

∠ <u>http://akwissensbilanz.org/en/</u> welcome-to-the-website-of-arbeitskreis-wissensbilanz/

Failure Report

Engineers Without Borders Canada, 2015 ≥ <u>http://reports.ewb.ca/failure/</u>

Communities of Practice

KM4Dev Community of Practice ン <u>www.km4dev.org</u>

FAO elearning Academy

Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), 2016

7 Principles of Knowledge Management

Snowden, Dave, 2009 http://www.gurteen.com/gurteen/gurteen.nsf/id/km-seven-principles

Trainingsunterlagen Knowledge Management kompakt

Brandner, Andreas, 2012 <u>http://www.gfwm.de/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/D-A-CH</u> <u>Wissensmanagement_Glossar_v1-1.pdf</u>

Werkzeugkasten Wissensmanagement

Mittelmann, Angelika, 2011 レ <u>http://artm-friends.at/wm-werkzeugkasten/</u>

Learning from failure

Failforward ↘ <u>https://failforward.org/</u>

Handreichung "Miteinander Lernen" – Gestaltung von

entwicklungspolitischen Begegnungsprogrammen
Brot für die Welt, 2017
>> https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Datein/Publikationen_weitere/Good_Practice/2. aufl. miteinander lernen 1703.pdf



- Handreichung zur Projektentwicklung und Antragstellung Tipps für kleine entwicklungspolitische Vereine und migrantisch-diasporische Organisationen Stiftung Nord-Süd Brücken
 - ↘ <u>http://nord-sued-bruecken.de/assets/files/Handreichung_Projektantrag_web.pdf</u>

General data protection legislation: what charities need to know. A toolkit from dóchas & fp logue solicitors

FPLOGUE, Dóchas – The Irish Association of Non-Governmental Development Organisations, 2018

↘ <u>http://www.fplogue.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Data-Protection-</u> <u>Toolkit-Dochas-and-FP-Logue.pdf</u>

Positive sustainable change

Handreichung zur Wirkungsorientierung von Advocacy-Arbeit

Brot für die Welt, 2012

↘ <u>http://www.fakt-consult.de/sites/default/files/downloads/dialog_08</u> wirkungsorientierung_von_advocacy_0.pdf

Sustainability in German Development Cooperation: Meta-Evaluation

Noltze, M., Euler, M. and Verspohl, I. (DEval), 2018

↘ <u>https://www.deval.org/files/content/Dateien/Evaluierung/Berichte/2018/</u> <u>DEval Evaluierungssynthese EN web.pdf</u>

Theories of Change for Promoting Empowerment and Accountability in Fragile and Conflict-Affected Settings

Green, Ducan, 2017

↘ <u>https://www.ids.ac.uk/publications/theories-of-change-for-promoting-</u> <u>empowerment-and-accountability-in-fragile-and-conflict-affected-settings/</u>

Monitoring Self-Effectiveness – A Manual to Strengthen Outcome and Impact

Oriented Project Management

NGO-IDEAs, 2011

↘ <u>https://venro.org/publikationen/detail/</u> ngo-ideas-monitoring-self-effectiveness/

How Do They Do It? Civil Society Monitoring Self-Effectiveness

NGO-IDEAs, 2011

↘ <u>http://www.ngo-ideas.net/mediaCache/NGO-IDEAs Field Experience 2011/</u> NGO-IDEAs Field Experience 2011.pdf

DAC Principles for Evaluation of Development Assistance

OECD Development Assistance Committee, 1991 ⊻ <u>http://www.oecd.org/development/evaluation/2755284.pdf</u>

Glossary of Key Terms in Evaluation and Results Based Management

OECD Development Assistance Committee, 2009 http://www.oecd.org/dac/evaluation/2754804.pdf

When and how to develop an impact-oriented monitoring and evaluation system Peersman, Greet et al., 2016

↘ <u>https://gsdrc.org/document-library/when-and-how-to-develop-an-impact-oriented-monitoring-and-evaluation-system/</u>



Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development United Nations, 2015 → https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld

Good intentions are not good enough:

How we take into account undesirable effects with "Do No Harm"
VENRO, 2018
≥ <u>https://venro.org/publikationen/detail/</u> good-intentions-are-not-good-enough/

Policy Paper "From Impact Monitoring to Impact Orientation"

VENRO, 2020

↘ <u>https://venro.org/publikationen/detail/</u> from-impact-monitoring-to-impact-orientation

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte, DIMR (2014):

The Human Rights-Based Approach in German Development Cooperation

<u>https://www.institut-fuer-menschenrechte.de/fileadmin/user_upload/</u>
<u>Publikationen/E-Info-Tool/e-info-tool_human_rights_based_approach_in_</u>
<u>German_development_cooperation.pdf</u>

Medie, P.A. (2016):

Invest in Women's Organisations for a Change. Women's international League for Peace and Freedom.

<u>https://wilpf.org/invest-in-womens-organisations-for-a-change/</u>

Rowlands, J. (1997):

Questioning Empowerment. Working Women in Honduras. Oxfam, Dublin.

VENRO (2016):

Statutes of the Association of German Development and Humanitarian Aid Non-Governmental Organisations, reg. Ass.

↘ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u> <u>VENRO-Dokumente/VENRO_statutes_2017.pdf</u>

OECD DAC (2016):

OECD DAC Rio Markers for Climate – Handbook.

↘ <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/environment-development/Revised%20</u> <u>climate%20marker%20handbook_FINAL.pdf</u>

Inter-Agency Standing Committee, IASC (2019):

Task Force on Accountability to Affected People.

<u>https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/iasc-task-team-on-accountability-to-affected-populations-and-protection-from-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse-aap-psea</u>

Mango (2010):

Accountability to Beneficiaries Checklist. How Accountable is your Organisation to its Beneficiaries?

↘ <u>https://www.alnap.org/help-library/accountability-to-beneficiaries-checklist-how-accountable-is-your-organisation-to-its</u>

Mayrhofer, B. (2013):

Civic space. Development and Cooperation, D+C.

<u>https://www.dandc.eu/en/article/civicus-assesses-civil-liberties-around-world-and-criticises-donors-supporting-authoritarian</u>

VENRO; Krause, L. (2017):

"Business in Times of Crisis": Zivilgesellschaft diskutiert Trends für die Zukunft der EZ.

↘ <u>http://blog.venro.org/business-in-times-of-crisis-zivilgesellschaft-diskutiert-trends-fuer-die-zukunft-der-ez/</u>

VENRO; Krähling, K. (2017):

Lokalisierung von Humanitärer Hilfe: Wie lokale Akteure gestärkt werden können.

↘ <u>http://blog.venro.org/lokalisierung-von-humanitaerer-hilfe-wie-lokale-akteure-gestaerkt-werden-koennen/.</u>

VENRO (2017a):

Was macht Capacity Development von NRO erfolgreich? Herausforderungen im Kontext von Krisen, Fragilität und Shrinking Spaces.

<u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u> <u>Diskussionspapiere/CapacityDevelopment_vo6_DIGITAL.pdf</u>

Balk, S. (2018):

Agenda 2030. Improvable partnerships. Development and cooperation, D+C. → <u>https://www.dandc.eu/en/article/</u>

swp-study-reveals-many-gaps-partnerships-implementation-un-2030-agenda

Bermann-Harms, C. and Murad, N.L. (2011):

Putting the Istanbul Principles into Practice: A Companion Toolkit to the Siem Reap Consensus on the International Framework for CSO Development Effectiveness. Open Forum for CSO Development Effectiveness.



OECD (1991):

Principles for Evaluation of Development Assistance. Development Assistance Committee. >> https://www.oecd.org/development/evaluation/2755284.pdf

Valters, C. (2015):

Theories of Change. Time for a Radical Approach to Learning in Development. Overseas Development Institute London.

VENRO (2017b):

Adaptive Management: Erkennen, anpassen, verbessern. Vorstellung einer Studie über den "Adaptive Management"-Ansatz.

↘ <u>https://venro.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Dateien/Daten/Publikationen/</u> <u>Factsheets/Einblicke_AdaptiveManagement.pdf</u>

World Bank (2013):

Localizing Development – Does Participation Work?

 \square https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/hand

le/10986/11859/9780821382561.pdf

 $\bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet \quad \bullet$

CONTRIBUTORS

Broich, Leila Welthungerhilfe ↘ www.welthungerhilfe.de

Burger-Erlenstedt, Barbara Kindernothilfe ↘ www.kindernothilfe.de

Burmann, Julia Save the Children → www.savethechildren.de

Eiden, Albert Kindernothilfe → www.kindernothilfe.de

Gruszczynski, Ariane Brot für die Welt → www.brot-fuer-die-welt.de

Harmeling, Sven CARE International ↘ www.care.de

Lange, Harriett Plan International ↘ www.plan.de

Müller-Goldenstedt, Judy Kindernothilfe ↘ www.kindernothilfe.de

Piepenbrink, Nicole Brot für die Welt → www.brot-fuer-die-welt.de **Reinhardt, Thomas** Brot für die Welt → www.brot-fuer-die-welt.de

Rüden, Esther Plan International ↘ www.plan.de

Scharf, Esther Brot für die Welt → www.brot-fuer-die-welt.de

Schenda, Nicole Oxfam ↘ www.oxfam.de

Scherff, Heike Brot für die Welt → www.brot-fuer-die-welt.de

Schröder, Anika MISEREOR ↘ www.misereor.de

Wachter-Schneider, Annette Malteser ↘ www.malteser.de

Wienberg, Kirsten medica mondiale

Weigt, Gabriele bezev

VENRO MEMBERS

Α

action medeor ADRA Deutschland AGIAMONDO **Aktion Canchanabury** AMICA e.V. ANDHERI-HILFE e.V. Apotheker helfen e.V Apotheker ohne Grenzen e.V. Arbeiter-Samariter-Bund Deutschland Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Eine-Welt-Landesnetzwerke in Deutschland (agl) Arbeitsgemeinschaft Entwicklungsethnologie arche noVa Ärzte der Welt ASW – Aktionsgemeinschaft Solidarische Welt AT-Verband **AWO** International

В

Behinderung und Entwicklungszusammenarbeit (bezev) BONO-Direkthilfe BORDA e.V. Brot für die Welt – Evangelischer Entwicklungsdienst Bund der Deutschen Katholischen Jugend (BDKJ) Bundesvereinigung Lebenshilfe

С

CARE Deutschland e.V. Caritas International Casa Alianza - Kinderhilfe Guatemala CHANGE e.V. ChildFund Deutschland Christliche Initiative Romero Christoffel-Blindenmission Deutschland

D

Dachverband Entwicklungspolitik Baden-Württemberg (DEAB)

Das Hunger Projekt DED-Freundeskreis Deutsche Entwicklungshilfe für soziales Wohnungsund Siedlungswesen (DESWOS) Deutsche Kommission Justitia et Pax Deutsche Lepra- und Tuberkulosehilfe (DAHW) Deutsche Stiftung Weltbevölkerung (DSW) Deutscher Paritätischer Wohlfahrtsverband Deutsch-Syrischer Verein e.V. (DSV) DGB-Bildungswerk BUND – Nord-Süd-Netz Difäm – Deutsches Institut für Ärztliche Mission Don Bosco Mondo DVV International – Institut für Internationale Zusammenarbeit des Deutschen Volkshochschul-Verbandes

Ε

Eine Welt Netz NRW EIRENE – Internationaler Christlicher Friedensdienst EPIZ – Zentrum für Globales Lernen in Berlin Erlassjahr.de – Entwicklung braucht Entschuldung Evangelische Akademien in Deutschland (EAD)

F

Fairventures Worldwide FIAN Deutschland Forum Fairer Handel FUTURO SÍ

G

gemeinnützige energypedia UG Gemeinschaft Sant'Egidio German Doctors German Toilet Organisation Germanwatch

Η

Habitat for Humanity Deutschland Handicap International



Help – Hilfe zur Selbsthilfe HelpAge Deutschland Hilfe für Afrika e.V.* Hoffnungszeichen / Sign of Hope humedica

Indienhilfe INKOTA-netzwerk Internationaler Bund (IB) Internationaler Hilfsfonds International Justice Mission Deutschland Internationaler Ländlicher Entwicklungsdienst (ILD) Internationaler Verband Westfälischer Kinderdörfer Islamic Relief Deutschland

J

JAM Deutschland Johanniter-Auslandshilfe

Κ

KAIROS Europa Karl Kübel Stiftung für Kind und Familie KATE – Kontaktstelle für Umwelt und Entwicklung Kinderhilfswerk Stiftung Global-Care Kindernothilfe Kinderrechte Afrika KOLPING International Cooperation e.V.

L

Lateinamerika-Zentrum Lesben- und Schwulenverband (LSVD) Lichtbrücke

Μ

Malteser International Marie-Schlei-Verein materra – Stiftung Frau und Gesundheit medica mondiale medico international MISEREOR Mission East Deutschland e.V.* Missionsärztliches Institut Würzburg

Ν

NETZ Partnerschaft für Entwicklung und Gerechtigkeit e.V. Neuapostolische Kirche-karitativ e.V. nph Kinderhilfe Lateinamerika e.V.

0

OIKOS EINE WELT e. V. Ökumenische Initiative Eine Welt e.V. Opportunity International Deutschland Ora International Deutschland OroVerde – Die Tropenwaldstiftung Oxfam Deutschland

Ρ

Partnership for Transpareny Fund e.V. (PTF Europe)* Plan International Deutschland

R

Rhein-Donau-Stiftung

S

SALEM International Samhathi – Hilfe für Indien Save the Children Deutschland Senegalhilfe-Verein Senior Experten Service (SES) Society for International Development Chapter Bonn (SID) SODI – Solidaritätsdienst International SOS-Kinderdörfer weltweit Stiftung Childaid Network Stiftung der Deutschen Lions Stiftung Entwicklung und Frieden (SEF) Stiftung Kinderzukunft Stiftung Nord-Süd-Brücken SÜDWIND – Institut für Ökonomie und Ökumene Susila Dharma – Soziale Dienste

Т

Tearfund Deutschland e.V.* Terra Tech Förderprojekte TERRE DES FEMMES terre des hommes Deutschland Tierärzte ohne Grenzen (ToG) TransFair

V

Verband Entwicklungspolitik Niedersachsen (VEN) Verbund Entwicklungspolitischer Nichtregierungsorganisationen Brandenburgs (VENROB) Verein entwicklungspolitischer Austauschorganisationen e.V. (ventao)

W

W. P. Schmitz-Stiftung WEED – Weltwirtschaft, Ökologie & Entwicklung Weltfriedensdienst Weltgebetstag der Frauen – Deutsches Komitee Welthaus Bielefeld Welthungerhilfe Weltladen-Dachverband Weltnotwerk der KAB Deutschlands Werkhof Darmstadt Werkstatt Ökonomie World University Service World Vision Deutschland

Ζ

Zukunftsstiftung Entwicklung bei der GLS Treuhand

* Guest member

VENRO currently has 140 members



IMPRINT

Publisher: VENRO – Association of German Development and Humanitarian Aid NGOs Stresemannstr. 72 10963 Berlin

Phone: +49 (0)30/2 63 92 9910 Fax: +49 (0)30/2 63 92 9999

Email: sekretariat@venro.org Internet: www.venro.org

Editing: Lili Krause Copy editing: Ionna Streitberg

Translation: Language Buró OÜ

Cover image: iStock.com/Rawpixel

Layout: BAR PACIFICO/Etienne Girardet & Fabian Hickethier, Jens Tenhaeff

Reprints require the prior permission of the publisher.

Berlin, December 2020

This publication was supported by ENGAGEMENT GLOBAL

With funding from the



Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development



VENRO is the umbrella organisation of development and humanitarian nongovernmental organisations (NGOs) in Germany. The association was founded in 1995 and consists of around 140 organisations. Their background lie in independent and church-related development education, public relations and advocacy.

VENRO's central goal is to construct a just globalisation, with a special emphasis on eradication global poverty. The organisation is committed to implementing human rights and conserving natural resources.

VENRO

- → represents the interests of development policy and humanitarian NGOs vis-à-vis the government
- → strengthens the role of NGOs and civil society in development co-operation and humanitarian aid
- → sharpens public awareness of development co-operation and humanitarian issues

VENRO – Association of German Development and Humanitarian Aid NGOs

www.venro.org